RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Dec 02, 2013, 2:40 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. <u>89635</u>-9

(Court of Appeals no. 43078-9-II)

CATHY JOHNSTON-FORBES,

Petitioner,

V.

DAWN MATSUNAGA,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW



Michael H. Bloom, WSB # 30845 Attorney for Appellant One Centerpointe Drive, Ste. 570 Lake Oswego, Oregon 97035 Telephone (503) 223-2608 Fax (503) 670-7683

Attorney For Petitioner

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The petitioner is Cathy Johnston-Forbes, appellant in the Court of Appeals and the plaintiff in the Clark County Superior Court proceeding.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Ms. Johnston-Forbes asks this Court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision in *Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga*, No. 43078-9-II, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2569 (October 29, 2013). Attached as appendix A.

III. <u>ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

- Whether a biomechanical engineer is qualified to provide an opinion on the cause of injury.
- 2. Whether a biomechanical engineer can base such an opinion on the amount of vehicle damage sustained in a collision without regard to the medical findings.
- 3. Whether a biomechanical's prediction as to how often similar collisions result in injury is relevant in a personal injury case, and if so, whether its probative value is outweighed by its misleading and overly prejudicial nature.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Introduction

Cathy Johnston-Forbes was injured in a motor vehicle collision.

She is appealing the trial court's decision to admit the controversial

testimony of Allan Tencer.

Tencer is a biomechanical engineer. He claims that he can predict whether an individual was injured in a collision by the amount of damage that the vehicle sustained. Tencer does not expressly say that the collision could not have caused plaintiff injury, but by comparing the forces that her "body felt during impact" to activities such as walking "down stairs" or "jogging," his clear message is just that — Johnston-Forbes could not have been injured because the force of the impact was too small.

In reality, all Tencer is qualified to do, if anything, is to predict in general how often a collision of this sort may result in injury. That is not relevant to whether this collision caused harm to this plaintiff.

Both Division One and Division Two have addressed the issue and come to different conclusions. In *Stedman v. Cooper*, 172 Wn. App. 9, 292 P.3d 764 (2012), Division One held that Tencer's opinion about the likelihood of injury drawn from the amount of vehicle damage is not "logically relevant to the issue the jury must decide: the degree to which these particular plaintiffs were injured in this particular automobile accident."

Division Two holds the opposite, stating in *Ma'ele v. Arrington*, 111 Wn. App. 557, 564, 45 P.3d 557 (2002), that Tencer, was free to testify that "the maximum possible force in [the] accident was not enough

to injure a person."

B. Plaintiff Was an LPGA Golfer

Cathy Johnston-Forbes was an LPGA professional golfer. 3 RP 399. She is a major title holder, having won the du Maurier Ltd. Classic, the LPGA's equivalent to the British Open. Ex 7, 4 RP 446-47. She was in Vancouver to play in the LPGA tour's Safeway Classic. 3 RP 401-02.

On the first day of the tournament, Johnston-Forbes posted a four under par 68, good enough for third place. 3 RP 409. Had she continued to shoot 68 for the next two days of the tournament, she would have won the tournament and its \$210,000 first place prize money. 2 RP 182-83.

C. The Collision

After she finished her first round, Johnston-Forbes and her family were returning to their hotel room in their 2006 Toyota Camry courtesy car. 3 RP 403. Johnston-Forbes was seated in the back seat between her two young daughters. 3 RP 404-05.

They had come to a complete stop for a red light. Johnston-Forbes was leaning forward and twisted back around to her left, facing one of her daughters so she could play with her daughter's hair. 3 RP 406. At that moment, her car was struck from behind by the defendant. 3 RP 406-07.

D. Plaintiff's Injuries

That evening, Johnston-Forbes experienced headaches, stiffening

muscles, and neck pain. 3 RP 409. She struggled to finish the tournament. 3 RP 410-11. Her symptoms worsened, extending down into her back. 3 RP 415-16. At the next tour stop, she obtained x-rays. 3 RP 417.

When she returned home, the pain in her back resolved, but not the pain in her neck. It prevented her from returning to the LPGA Tour. 3 RP 430; 4 RP 451.

In 2010, an MRI revealed a herniated disc. 3 RP 434. She tried cortisone shots, to no success. 3 RP 434-35. Doctors advised that surgery would not return to her pre-collision golfing ability. 1 RP 129-31.

E. <u>Medical Opinions</u>

Both sides agreed that Johnston-Forbes was suffering from a herniated disc at C6-7 level in her neck. The dispute was over causation.

Plaintiff's radiologist testified that the MRI showed that the herniation was due to trauma and not the aging process. 1 RP 41, 54, 60. Plaintiff's orthopedic surgeon agreed, stating that the herniation "was caused by the motor vehicle accident." 2 RP 95.

Defendant hired orthopedic surgeon Paul Tesar to examine plaintiff. 2 RP 222. Dr. Tesar agreed that plaintiff was suffering from a herniated disc at C6-7. Dr. Tesar testified, however, that he was not sure when the herniation occurred. 2 RP 261-62. According to Dr. Tesar, it could have happened at any time – while Johnston-Forbes was "sleeping"

or even "bending." 2 RP 263-64. The only time that he ruled out was during the motor vehicle collision. 2 RP 240, 259.

F. Allan Tencer Named as an Expert

Prior to trial, defendant identified Tencer as an expert. Plaintiff obtained his report and deposed him. Tencer reported the following opinion "to a reasonable degree of Biomechanical Engineering certainty:"

Since the forces acting on Ms. Johnston-Forbes in this accident were low, relative to forces experienced in daily living, my conclusion is that the accident is not a likely source of significant forces acting on Ms. Johnston-Forbes' body.

CP 29.

Tencer based his opinion on photographs taken of defendant's vehicle some years after the collision (3 RP 313-14) and on the assumption that a one-line \$149 invoice from Tina's Touch Up reflected the extent of damage to the plaintiff's bumper (1 RP 16-19, CP 87). He did not know, and claimed he did not need to know, the extent of damage sustained by plaintiff's courtesy car in the collision. 3 RP 317-18.

Tencer used the damage photographs to estimate impact forces. He then used the impact force to compare this collision with other similar collisions from laboratory crash testing, such as head restraint testing, and based on those results, he predicted that <u>this collision</u> would not result in significant forces to Johnston-Forbes body. 3 RP 325. He emphasized

how insignificant the forces were by comparing them to less than what one would feel while walking "down stairs" or "jogging." 3 RP 325-26.

G. Motion in Limine

Plaintiff moved pre-trial to exclude Tencer's opinions on a number of grounds. Defendant opposed the plaintiff's motion, relying heavily on the Division II's decision of *Ma'ele v. Arrington*. CP 119-23, 1 RP 11-12.

The trial court denied plaintiff's motion. 1 RP 28. Not surprising, given *Stedman* had not yet been decided, and *Ma'ele* was still the governing law on the admissibility of Tencer's opinions.

H. Trial

At trial, Tencer testified that the forces that Johnston–Forbes'
"body could feel during impact" were "not significant" – no greater than
what one feels during activities of daily living, and were less than what
one would feel while walking "down stairs" or "jogging." 3 RP 325-26.
Although he did not expressly state it, his clear message was that
Johnston-Forbes could not have been injured in the accident because the
force of the impact was too small. The jury returned a defense verdict.

¹ Plaintiff asserted that Tencer' qualifications were lacking; his foundation was insufficient; his testimony was not helpful to the jury under ER 702; and even if it were helpful, its probative value was outweighed by its unduly prejudicial nature under ER 403. CP 8.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Reasons for Review

1. The Court of Appeals Decision and Division Two's
Precedent Is in Conflict with Division One's Precedent.

Review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(2). The Court of Appeals decision in *Johnston-Forbes*, as well as Division Two's prior precedent, *Ma'ele v. Arrington*, 111 Wn. App. 557, 4 P.3d 557 (2002), is in conflict with the Division One's precedent of *Stedman v. Cooper*, 172 Wn. App. 9, 292 P.3d 764 (2012) and *Berryman v. Metcalf*, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2630 (November 12, 2013).²

The Division Two cases of *Johnston-Forbes* and *Ma'ele* hold that a biomechanical engineer's determination that this type of collision generally would not result in significant forces to the occupant is relevant to whether Johnston-Forbes suffered injury in this particular collision.

In *Stedman v. Cooper*, on the other hand, Division One affirmed the trial court's exclusion of Tencer's testimony because is was too general to be "logically relevant to the issue the jury must decide: the degree to which these particular plaintiffs were injured in this particular automobile accident." In other words, Division One found that the same testimony does not even meet the low threshold of relevant evidence. *State v.*

² Division One's *Berryman v. Metcalf*, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2630 (November 12, 2013), that reaffirmed *Stedman*, came down 14 days after Johnston-Forbes was decided.

Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612, 621, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002).

To add to the confusion, *Johnston-Forbes* now questions whether its earlier Division Two precedent is still good law:

[W]e have previously held Tencer's testimony—that "the maximum possible force in [the] accident was not enough to injure a person"—was not a "medical opinion." *Ma'ele v. Arrington*, 111 Wn. App. 557, 564, 45 P.3d 557 (2002). Because Tencer provided no such testimony here, we do not need to address whether that holding remains good law.

App. A at 7.

2. This is a recurring issue at the trial level.

This is a recurring issue at the trial court. Tencer himself "has been retained frequently as an expert defense witness in similar cases." *Berryman v. Metcalf*, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2630, *8 (November 12, 2013); *see Santos v. United Parcel Servs. Inc.*, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 1460 (June 19, 2013); *Stedman v. Cooper*, 172 Wn. App. 9, 292 P.3d 764 (2012); *Ma'ele v. Arrington*, 111 Wn. App. 557, 45 P.3d 557 (2002).

But Tencer is not the only one who testifies as a defense expert in these types cases. There are others. *See, e.g., Gonzalez-Mendoza v. Burdick*, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 1555 (July 8, 2013).

3. The public has a substantial interest in safeguarding how a cause of injury is determined in a court of law.

Review is also warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3). The public has a substantial interest in ensuring that the evidence relied upon by experts in

a court of law for opinions on the cause of a injury should be no less reliable than that relied upon by those in the medical field who make those determinations in practice.

ER 703 specifies that the type of evidence that an expert can rely upon must be "of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject." ER 703.³

Reasonable reliance is measured by whether experts in the "field regularly rely" upon the evidence in practice, not whether testifying experts rely upon the evidence for the purpose of litigation.⁴

Although the Johnston-Forbes Court may "disagree[] that Tencer's testimony was medical in nature," it nevertheless is an opinion on the causation of plaintiff's injury. App. A at 6. Experts that normally give an opinion on the cause of injury are trained medical professionals. *Taber's*

³ ER 703 is based on its federal counterpart, FRE 703. *State v. DeVries*, 149 Wn.2d 842, 856-57, 72 P.3d 748 (2003). FRE was adopted primarily in response to the reality that some experts, such as physicians, regularly rely upon "numerous sources and of considerable variety, including statements by patients and relatives, reports and opinions from nurses, technicians and other doctors, hospital records, and X-rays. *** The physician makes life-and-death decisions in reliance upon them. His validation, expertly performed and subject to cross-examination, ought to suffice for judicial purposes." FRE 703 Advisory Committee Note; Paul D. Rheingold, *The Basis of Medical Testimony*, 15 Vand. L. Rev. 473, 531 (1962).

[&]quot;Reasonable reliance is established when the court is convinced not just that other experts in the field regularly rely on similar information in arriving at opinions and conclusions formed for non-litigation purposes, but that the reliance by this expert in this case [for this opinion] is reasonable."

JoAnne A. Epps, *Clarifying the Meaning of Federal Rule of Evidence 703*, 36 B.C.L. REV. 53, 81 (1994) (Interpreting FRE 703).

Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary at 530-31 (Clayton L. Thomas, M.D. ed.) (18th ed. 1997).

Information that medical professionals regularly rely upon to form opinions on the cause of injury include a number of sources, such as the statements from the patient, reports and opinions from nurses, technicians and other doctors, hospital records, X-rays, and prior medical records.

FRE 703 Advisory Committee Note; Paul D. Rheingold, *The Basis of Medical Testimony*, 15 Vand. L. Rev. 473, 531 (1962). They do not rely upon the amount of vehicle damage or statistical compilations from crashworthiness tests.

Tencer did not rely upon medical information. He relied upon damage photographs, a repair estimate and crash test data. This is not the type of information that those who regularly make diagnoses about the cause of an injury rely upon.

In fact, defendant's own orthopedic surgeon confirmed that the amount of vehicle damage sustained in a collision is not a reliable source for determining either the cause or extent of injury:

A. In the studies there was no -- we have no evidence of the effect of crash severity on the development of whiplash associated disorder neck injury. We don't have the data. There's no study that we're able to look at and say, see, this causes it. And that's my opinion based on my reading of the literature

* * * * *

- Q. To summarize, you're saying there just is no credible data to relate crashing of a vehicle to injury of a neck in the occupant. Is that fair?
- A Correct. There's no evidence on the crash severity.

2 RP 275-76. (Dr. Paul Tesar, Defendant's IME physician.)

If defendant's own medical expert testified that the amount of vehicle damage is not regularly relied upon for diagnosing the cause of an injury in the medical field, how can Tencer, who is not a trained medical professional and who did not review plaintiff's medical records, testify to the contrary?

B. <u>Division One's Reasoning in Stedman v. Cooper Is Sound</u>

In *Stedman*, the Division One Court affirmed the trial court's exclusion of Tencer's testimony because it was too general to be "logically relevant to the issue the jury must decide: the degree to which these particular plaintiffs were injured in this particular automobile accident."

Its rationale is sound and should be adopted by this Court.

In *Stedman*, the plaintiff moved pre-trial to exclude Tencer's testimony asserting his opinion was cumulative and irrelevant. The trial court agreed and excluded Tencer's testimony on both grounds." *Id.* at 18.

On appeal, the Court found the trial court erred in excluding

Tencer's testimony as cumulative. *Id.* But relevancy was still an issue:

The closer question is whether the court erred in ruling that Tencer's testimony was "logically irrelevant to the issue the jury must decide: the degree to which these particular plaintiffs were injured in this particular automobile accident."

Id. at 19.

In analyzing the issue, the *Stedman* court quoted a Colorado Court which had found that the crash test data that formed the basis for the expert's opinion was not substantially similar to the litigated case:

The trial court "reasoned that tests used to ascertain safety for the purposes of doing a cost-benefit analysis with regard to the expense of designing the seat of a car were not applicable to prove that a particular person was unlikely to be injured in a specific accident."

"Additionally, the [trial] court questioned the validity of using a series of tests designed for one purpose (designing cars) for a different purpose (assessing a threshold of applied force for injury in rear-end car accident).

Specifically, the court addressed the circumstances of the tests that did not correspond with the circumstances of a rear-end car accident. It noted the fact that the statistical sample in the tests was 'extremely low,' and there were 'no controls among and between the experiments with regard to age, physical conditions [and] actual position of the body.' Also, the [trial] court noted the 'expectation factor' of knowing one is going to be hit, as opposed to being unaware of an impending collision. The [trial] court concluded that there 'is great controversy in the field about the quality and comparability of these tests."

Stedman, 172 Wn App at 19-20 (quoting Schultz v. Wells, 13 P3d 846, 849, 851-52 (Colo. App. 2000)) (Brackets language added for context).

The *Stedman* Court noted that in Tencer's declaration, he agreed that he could not provide an opinion on whether the collision caused

Stedman's injury. He claimed, however that was not what he was doing:

Tencer declared that he agreed with the ruling in *Schultz* and that his testimony was different because "I ... have never described any threshold for injury in my opinions. Emphasizing that he testifies from a biomechanical rather than a medical perspective, he disavowed any intention of giving an opinion about whether Stedman was hurt in the accident.

Stedman, 172 Wn. App. at 20.

The *Stedman* Court did not buy Tencer's response for a minute.

By comparing the collision forces to "common daily activities" such as "walking and running," the Court stated that Tencer's

clear message was that Stedman could not have been injured in the accident because the force of the impact was too small. Indeed, *** Tencer's conclusion was exactly that: the forces generated by the impact were not sufficient to cause the type of injuries Stedman was claiming.

Id. at 20.

The *Stedman* Court ruled that the expert testimony was "logically irrelevant to the issue the jury must decide: the degree to which these particular plaintiffs were injured in this particular automobile accident." In other words, Tencer's opinion could not even clear the low bar of relevancy. *State v. Darden*, 145 Wn.2d 612, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002) ("The threshold to admit relevant evidence is very low. Even minimally relevant evidence is admissible.")

C. <u>Johnston-Forbes: Division Two Disagrees with Division One</u> and Adheres to *Ma'ele*

Tencer's testimony in *Johnston-Forbes* was strikingly similar to that which was excluded in Stedman: he used the same activities, "walking and running," to describe the amount of force that he claims Johnston-Forbes experienced in the collision.

Johnston-Forbes argued that the clear message of Tencer's comparisons was that she could not have been injured in the accident because the force of the impact was too small:

Johnston-Forbes challenges Tencer's expert testimony as improper medical opinion because, by comparing the collision forces to daily living activities (such as "walking 'down stairs' or 'jogging'"), the clear message ... was that this collision could not have injured [the] plaintiff.

App. A at 6. (Parenthetical in original).

The Court disagreed with Johnston-Forbes' characterization:

Tencer did *not* offer an opinion about whether the forces involved in the accident would or would not have caused personal injuries to anyone in general or to Johnston-Forbes in particular. [Tencer only testified] that the collision was *not* likely the source of significant forces acting on Johnston-Forbes' body.

App. A at 6. (Italics in original).

The same flaws in *Johnston-Forbes* Court's reasoning were articulated a decade ago in the earlier Division Two decision of *Ma'ele*:

Tencer opined that the maximum possible force in this accident was not enough to injure a person. And this was

not a medical opinion; Tencer expressed no opinion about Ma'ele's symptoms or possible diagnosis from those symptoms. He did not say that Ma'ele was uninjured in the crash, although the jury was entitled to infer that from his testimony.

Ma'ele, 111 Wn. App. at 564.

As *Stedman* makes clear, this is a distinction without a difference. It is also a distinction that neither the medical community⁵ nor legal community⁶ recognize.

D. <u>Division One's Rationale in Stedman Squares with Other Washington Precedent</u>

Divsion One's rationale in *Stedman* also squares with the requirement under Washington law that tests must be conducted under conditions that were the same or "substantially similar" to the circumstances being litigated in this case. *See Quinn v. McPherson*, 73 Wn.2d 194, 201, 437 P.2d 393 (1968).

Tencer may be able to calculate the force when the two vehicles

Id. at 530-31 (Clayton L. Thomas, M.D. ed.) (18th ed. 1997).

⁵ In Taber's Cyclopedic Medical Dictionary, diagnosis is defined as follows:

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