RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 03, 2014, 8:02 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

NO. 89625-9

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CATHY JOHNSTON-FORBES,

Petitioner,

v.

DAWN MATSUNAGA,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Douglas Foley & Associates, PLLC Douglas F. Foley, WSBA #13119 Vernon S. Finley, WSBA #12321 13115 NE 4th Street, Suite 260 Vancouver, WA 98684 (360) 883-0636

Attorneys for Respondent

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

V. ARGUMENT AGAINST REVIEW

A. Standard of Review

The considerations governing acceptance of discretionary review by this Court are identified in RAP 13.4(b). Johnston-Forbes has based her petition on RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (3).

B. Review Should Not Be Granted Under RAP 13.4(b)(2)

Johnston-Forbes asserts that this opinion is in conflict with other decisions of the Court of Appeals and review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(2). The decisions in the Court of Appeals that involve the testimony of Dr. Tencer use the abuse of discretion standard for the trial court's admission of expert testimony. This grants the trial judge wide latitude to provide a fair trial. Different outcomes on the admission of expert testimony are to be expected based upon the broad abuse of discretion standard.

As the Court of Appeals explained in *Johnston-Forbes*, citing the *Stedman* decision, the trial courts can reasonably reach different

conclusions for whether, and to what extent, expert testimony will be helpful to the trier of fact, as shown below:

"We again emphasize the standard of review for a trial court's decision to allow or to exclude expert testimony: "The broad standard of abuse of discretion means that courts can reasonably reach different conclusions about whether, and to what extent, an expert's testimony will be helpful to the jury in a particular case." *Stedman*, 172 Wn. App. at 18."

Op. at 12-13. A review of the Court of Appeals' decisions involving Dr. Tencer shows that the opinions have strongly support the discretion of the trial judge to allow expert testimony and to limit the extent of that testimony.

The first case to consider the admission of Dr. Tencer's testimony was *Ma'Ele v. Arrington*, 111 Wn. App. 557, 45 P.3d 557 (2002). The court found that Dr. Tencer's education and experience qualified him as an expert, and that the trial court did not err in allowing Tencer to testify as an expert. *Id.* at 560-561. In *Ma'Ele*, the court reiterated that the trial court's ER 702 decision is reviewed for abuse of discretion.

It should be noted that the opinion that Dr. Tencer rendered in the *Johnston-Forbes* case was more limited than his earlier opinion expressed in *Ma'Ele*. Here, Dr. Tencer was expressing an opinion

regarding the forces involved in the collision. He did not render an opinion on medical causation. His opinion in *Johnston-Forbes* relating to the forces involved in the collision was very similar to his opinion in *Stedman*.

In *Stedman v. Cooper*, 172 Wn. App. at 8-9, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial judge's determination that the testimony of Dr. Tencer was to be excluded, with the court finding that it was misleading. *Stedman* and *Johnston-Forbes* can be reconciled. Despite different outcomes, they are consistent in many ways and do not present a true conflict between the divisions of the Court of Appeals.

Both cases upheld the decision of the trial court. *Stedman* did not overrule *Ma'Ele* and emphasized that: "The broad standard of abuse of discretion means that courts can reasonably reach different conclusions about whether, and to what extent, an expert's testimony will be helpful to the jury in a particular case." *Id.* at 18.

The Court of Appeals' opinion in *Johnston-Forbes* states that: "[A]s is the case with evidentiary rulings in general, we review a trial court's ER 403 and ER 702 rulings with great deference under a manifest abuse of discretion standard." The *Johnston-Forbes* opinion disagreed with *Stedman* regarding what may be suggested by the

language regarding the relevancy or the inference from Dr. Tencer's force of impact testimony. This disagreement is not a conflict between Division 1 and Division 2 of the Court of Appeals. The *Johnston-Forbes* opinion cites the language contained *Stedman* granting the trial judge a broad range of discretion, with provides a way to harmonize the two decisions, as shown below:

"To the extent that the Stedman court suggested that the force of impact is always irrelevant or that it is improper for a jury to infer that minimal force did not cause injury in a particular case, we disagree. The force of impact—whether slight or significant—is often relevant in personal injury cases. See Murray v. Mossman, 52 Wn.2d 885, 888, 329 P.2d 1089 (1958) (admission of automobile accident photographs not reversible error because they tended to show "force and direction of the impact" that resulted in injury); Taylor v. Spokane, P. & S. Ry. Co., 72 Wash. 378, 379-80, 130 P. 506 (1913) (photograph properly admitted to show "probable force of the impact" where force of impact was material to whether passenger was actually injured). And there is nothing improper about allowing the jury to draw inferences from evidence explaining force of impact, as well as from other evidence, in determining proximate cause. We again emphasize the standard of review for a trial court's decision to allow or to exclude expert testimony: "The broad standard of abuse of discretion means that courts can reasonably reach different conclusions about whether, and to what extent, an expert's testimony will be helpful to the jury in a particular case." Stedman, 172 Wn. App. at 18;

¶ 18 Here, we hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Johnston-Forbes' motion to

exclude Tencer's force of impact testimony, especially in light of Matsunaga's limiting Tencer's testimony such that he did not offer any opinion about whether the forces in the accident were or were not sufficient to cause injury." (Emphasis Supplied)

Op. 11-13.

The Court in *Johnston-Forbes* made the same conclusion with regard to finding that the ER 402 and ER 403 rulings by the trial court were proper, and were to be reviewed with great deference under a manifest abuse of discretion standard, as shown below:

"Finally, Johnston-Forbes contends that Tencer's testimony was not helpful to the jury, as required by ER 702, and that its probative value was "substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury," in violation of ER 403. Br. of Appellant at 36 (quoting ER 403). Johnston-Forbes focuses her argument on the prejudice she claims she suffered as a result of this testimony: She argues that (1) her "medical evidence that the collision caused her injury was strong"; and (2) had the trial court excluded Tencer's testimony, the jury's verdict would have likely been different, namely in her favor. Br. of Appellant at 39-40. The record does not support her characterization of the proceedings and evidence.

¶24 Although Johnston-Forbes testified that several hours after the accident she started having headaches and pain and stiffness in her neck, she also acknowledged that (1) one year after the collision, in August 2007, she had been involved in a golf cart collision in which she had flown forward and hit her chest on the steering wheel; and (2) two years later, in 2009, she had been involved in a snowboarding accident, in which she had fallen and fractured her thumb. **Consistent with**

Johnston-Forbes' description of her later sportsrelated accidents and injuries, Matsunaga's medical
expert, Paul Tesar, testified that "there are many,
many things in terms of life activities that can cause a
herniated disc," including a "sneeze," "a swing," or
any "slip and fall"; this testimony was
uncontroverted. 2 VRP at 142. The record also shows
that Johnston-Forbes waited over two years before
filing suit against Matsunaga and nearly four years
after the collision before obtaining an MRI showing a
herniated disc. Based on this evidence, the jury could
have reasonably concluded that Johnston-Forbes'
pain and injury related back to one of these other
previous accidents.

As is the case with evidentiary rulings in general, we review a trial court's ER 403 and ER 702 rulings with great deference under a manifest abuse of discretion standard. See State v. Vreen, 143 Wn.2d 923, 932, 26 P.3d 236 (2001). We find no abuse of discretion in the trial court's rejecting Johnston-Forbes' ER 702 and ER 403 challenges as bases for excluding Tencer's testimony. (Emphasis supplied)

Op. 15-17.

Johnston-Forbes brief cites two recent unpublished decisions that were issued in 2013. Both of these decisions recognize that a trial court retains broad discretion to admit or exclude expert biomechanical testimony. In *Gonzalez-Mendoza v. Burdick*, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 1555, 13-14 (Wash. Ct. App. July 8, 2013), the court considered the testimony of Bradley Probst, a biomechanical expert, and stated:

"Both this court in *Stedman v. Cooper* n28 and Division Two in *Ma'ele* n29 have recognized that a trial court retains broad discretion to admit or exclude expert biomechanical testimony. As we stated in *Stedman*, "The broad standard of abuse of discretion means that courts can reasonably reach different conclusions about whether, and to what extent, an expert's testimony will be helpful to the jury in a particular case." n30 The trial court was well within its discretion to allow Probst to testify about the forces involved in the accident, as well as about his calculation of those forces."

The most recent decision involving Dr. Tencer is *Berryman v. Metcalf*, 2013 Wash. App. LEXIS 2630 (Wash. Ct. App. Nov. 12, 2013), the court found that it was not an abuse of discretion to exclude Dr. Tencer's testimony. The *Berryman* court affirmed the trial court's ruling with little discussion under the abuse of discretion standard. The court in *Berryman* in the discussion of the award of attorney fees explained that the testimony that Dr. Tencer typically provides is not a novel issue. *Id.* at 22-23. The *Berryman* case shows that the issues surrounding Dr. Tencer's testimony are now a well-known routine matter, and this supports denial of review by this court.

In summary, the trial judge has broad discretion to decide whether expert testimony is admissible. The trial judge's ruling will not be disturbed if the basis for admission of expert testimony is "fairly debatable." Different results by different courts under an abuse of

discretion standard do not compel review by this Court. Johnston-Forbes has failed to demonstrate that there is a conflict under RAP 13.4(b)(2)

C. Review Should Not Be Granted Under RAP 13.4(b)(3)

This case does not present any question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States. RAP 13.4(b)(3). This case primarily involves the rules of evidence.

Johnson-Forbes raised RAP 13.4(b)(3) in her brief but does not cite any constitutional claim. (Petition, pg. 8) There is no basis for review under this rule. Johnston-Forbes fails to satisfy the standard set forth under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

D. The Court of Appeals Correctly Decided The Case

1. Johnson Forbes Failed to Properly Raise Issues At Trial

The record in this case does not support many of the arguments that Johnston-Forbes raises in her Petition for Review. Review should be denied for this reason.

Johnston-Forbes argues that Dr. Tencer's testimony involves tests that do not have "substantial similarity of conditions" and questions the validity of the science behind the testimony. Petition, Pgs. 15 - 17. The record is deficient here. Johnston-Forbes presented

no expert biomechanical testimony to counter Dr. Tencer. There was no request to challenge Dr. Tencer's testimony as not being generally accepted in the scientific community and there was no request for a *Fry* hearing, as shown below:

"Johnston-Forbes did not challenge Tencer's testimony below as being not generally accepted in the scientific community; nor did she request a Frye hearing. We do not consider an issue a party raises for the first time on appeal unless that party demonstrates it involves a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3). More specifically, a party who fails to seek a Frye hearing below does not preserve this evidentiary challenge for review. *In re Det. of Post*, 145 Wn. App. 728, 755, 187 P.3d 803 (2008), aff'd, 170 Wn.2d 302, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010). Accordingly, we do not further address Johnston-Forbes' Frye challenge to Tencer's expert testimony."

Op. 7-8.

Johnson-Forbes argues that that Dr. Tencer's testimony of the forces involved in a collision is misleading as it supports the inference of medical causation. However, Johnson-Forbes introduced the issue of medical causation herself into the trial through the cross-examination questioning of Dr. Tencer. Dr. Tencer in his response stated: "let's leave the injury term out of it." 3 VRP at 365. The Count of Appeals' opinion addressed this issue in a footnote, stating:

"In response to Johnston-Forbes' questions on cross-examination, Tencer testified about the amount of "tissue stretch" caused by the impact. 3 VRP at 358. Johnston-Forbes also asked Tencer: "So wouldn't you also agree ... if [the] distance between the seat and ... driver, the greater it got, the greater the chance of injury? Wouldn't you agree to that?" 3 VRP at 365. He replied, "Yeah. Again, let's leave the injury term out of it." 3 VRP at 365."

Counsel for Johnston-Forbes intentionally interjected the issue of medical causation at trial during his lengthy cross-examination of Dr. Tencer. This issue was developed on cross-examination, and Johnston-Forbes should not be able to now complain that the jury could infer that there was medical causation in this particular case.

2. Johnson-Forbes' Arguments Go To the Weight of the Expert Testimony

Johnson-Forbes's arguments against Dr. Tencer go to the weight of the expert testimony. A reviewing court generally does not weigh expert testimony. Op. at pgs. 8-9; *Kaech v. Lewis County Pub. Util. Dist.*, 106 Wn. App. 260, 274-75, 23 P.3d 529 (2001), *review denied*, 145 Wn.2d 1020 (2002).

3. The Court Should Not Consider the New Issues that Johnston-Forbes is Raising For the First Time on Appeal or In the Petition for Review

Johnston-Forbes raises several issues in her Petition for Review never before addressed in this case. Review of these issues and questions is not merited because they are not properly before the Court. Johnston-Forbes never briefed these issues or raised these questions in the trial court or in the Court of Appeals. She only asserted them after the Court of Appeals issued its decision. This is improper.

There is nothing in the trial court record of the argument based on conditional probability analysis. (Petition, pgs. 17-20) The assertion that there was a "failure to appreciate conditional probability analysis" makes no sense when it was never argued in the trial court. This argument cannot be raised for the first time before this court. The proximate cause argument in the same section of the brief was not argued at trial. There are no cites record for this argument. *Id*.

The argument regarding the type of evidence that an expert can rely upon under ER 703 was greatly expanded in the Petition for Review and was not fully developed in the trial court. Petition, Pgs. 9–11. There are no cites to the record to this portion of the petition. The arguments that the tests that Dr. Tencer conducted under

conditions that were the same or "substantially similar" to the circumstances being litigated in this case were not developed in the trial court and the record is not cited. Petition, pgs. 15-16.

It is well established in Washington that new issues cannot be raised for the first time in a petition for review. RAP 2.5(a); Heg v. Alldredge, 157 Wn.2d 154, 162, 137 P.3d 9 (2006) (noting this Court will not review an issue raised for first time in a petition for review, citing RAP 2.5(a); Fisher v. Allstate Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 240, 252, 961 P.2d 350 (1998) (same). Thus, the Court is limited to the questions and theories presented before and determined by the Court of Appeals, and to claims of error directed to that court's resolution of such issues. People's Nat'l Bank v. Peterson, 82 Wn.2d 822, 829-30, 514 P.2d 159 (1973) (declining to review issues and theories raised for the first time in a petition for review where they were not presented in the trial court or the Court of Appeals). Since Johnston-Forbes did not raise these issues or pose these questions in a timely fashion at the trial court or in the Court of Appeals, it is too late for her to do so in his petition. The Court should decline to address them.

VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that Dr. Tencer could testify at trial. In making its arguments, Johnston-Forbes misleads the Court on the facts of this case and seeks to distort Washington law. The Court of Appeals decision is correct and this Court should deny review.